
 

             AGENDA 
           ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL 

February 1, 2016 
7:00 p.m. Following the ADC Meeting 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR  97103 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 
4. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
5. PRESENTATIONS 

(a) Shirley Krepky 25 Year Service (Police) 
 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be adopted by one 
motion unless a member of the City Council requests to have any item considered 
separately.  Members of the community may have an item removed if they contact the City 
Manager by 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. 
(a) City Council Minutes of 1/4/16 
(b) Boards and Commissions Minutes 

(1) Library Board Minutes of 12/8/15 
(c) 2016 Trestle and Track Inspection – Personal Services Contract (Public Works) 
(d) 2016 Trolley Trestle Repair Project – Authorization to Award Construction Contract 

(Public Works) 
(e) Salary Resolution Establishing Basic Compensation Plan Cost Of Living Wage 

Adjustments for the Astoria Public Safety Association and Police Sworn Management 
(Finance) 

(f) Oregon Library Association Resource Sharing Committee Passport Program Agreement 
(Library) 

 
7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

All agenda items are open for public comment following deliberation by the City Council.  
Rather than asking for public comment after each agenda item, the Mayor asks that audience 
members raise their hands if they want to speak to the item and they will be recognized.  In 
order to respect everyone’s time, comments will be limited to 3 minutes. 
(a) Revised Findings of Fact for Appeals by Ron Zilli (Community Development) 

(1) AP15-01 – New Construction Permit NC15-03 for Verizon Wireless  
(2) AP15-02 – Variance V15-03 for Verizon Wireless  
(3) AP15-03 – Wireless Communications Facility Permit WCF15-03 for Verizon Wireless 

(b) Local Option Tax – Marijuana Retailers (Police) 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630 BY 

CONTACTING JULIE YUILL, CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE, 503-325-5824. 
 



 
 
 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 

 
 
January 28, 2016 
 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF FEBRUARY 1, 2016 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
Item 5(a): Shirley Krepky 25 Year Service (Police) 
 

Police Department Communications Operator Shirley Krepky will be presented 
with her 25 year service pin. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Item 6(a): City Council Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council meeting of January 4, 2016 are enclosed for 
review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council 
approve these minutes. 

 
Item 6(b): Boards and Commissions Minutes 
 

The minutes of the (1) Library Board meeting of 12/8/15 are enclosed.  Unless 
there are any questions or comments regarding the contents of these minutes, 
they are presented for information only. 

 
Item 6(c): 2016 Trestle and Track Inspection – Personal Services Contract (Public 

Works) 
 

The City of Astoria has approximately 4.7 miles of railroad track and eight 
timber trestles formerly owned and operated by Burlington Northern Railroad 
from the Port of Astoria to Tongue Point.  The Astoria Riverfront Trolley 
currently operates on approximately three miles of this track, and over four 4 of 
the trestles.  The Trolley provides passenger service from Portway Street to 
39th Street.  Due to the age of the railroad infrastructure, the effort required to 
maintain the track and structures has been increasing rapidly.  The City has the 



Page 2 of 6 
 

timber trestles inspected each year to ensure they are safe to accommodate 
River Trail use and operation of the Trolley.  After the annual inspection is 
completed and the inspector has provided repair recommendations, staff 
solicits bids for the repair work. 

 
The City's previous rail inspection consultant, Andy Cyrus, has retired and is 
no longer available to assist with the work.  Last year, staff performed an 
interim inspection and provided repair recommendations while looking for a 
permanent inspection solution.  After evaluating several options, staff selected 
OBEC Consulting Engineers to assist with track and trestle inspection 
services.  Upon request, OBEC provided a proposal for comprehensive 
inspection of the eight timber trestles and railroad track from the Trolley Barn 
to 39th Street.  This will provide critical information on existing conditions, a 
maintenance summary identifying repair priorities, and budget estimates to 
assist with future maintenance funding.  This scope is more significant than 
that of previous inspections, but will be necessary to effectively manage and 
maintain proper Trolley operation as well as plan for future funding allocations 
needed for repairs in the upcoming years.  OBEC estimated the cost of this 
work to be $37,067.  This does not include a contingency task to provide 
Computer Aided Design (CAD) drawings.  This task may be considered at a 
later date if funding allows in the next fiscal year.  OBEC is listed on the 
Oregon Department of Transportation Consultant List for Local Public Agencies 
so staff recommends executing a personal services contract for the trestle and 
track inspection services per Astoria Code Section 1.967C(3) “Award from a 
Qualified Pool”.  Funding for this project will come from the Promote Astoria 
Fund.  The City Attorney has reviewed the contract and approved it as to form.  
It is recommended that Council approve the Personal Services Contract with 
OBEC Consulting Engineers for the 2016 Trestle and Track Inspection 
Services in the amount of $37,076. 

 
Item 6(d): 2016 Trolley Trestle Repair Project – Authorization to Award Construction 

Contract (Public Works) 
 

The City of Astoria has approximately 4.7 miles of railroad track and eight 
timber trestles formerly owned and operated by Burlington Northern Railroad 
from the Port of Astoria to Tongue Point.  The Astoria Riverfront Trolley 
currently operates on approximately three miles of this track, and over four of 
the trestles.  The Trolley provides passenger service from Portway Street to 
39th Street.  Each year, the City performs an inspection of the timber trestles to 
ensure safe operation of the Trolley over the structures.  Recommended  
repairs are identified and completed during a period when the Trolley is not in 
use.  Maintenance of the trestles has been deferred over the last two years 
while the City worked with the Division of State Lands and the Army Corps of 
Engineers to obtain permits for the planned maintenance work.  The City has 
obtained a permit to complete maintenance work for the next five years and will 
be completing recommended repairs identified over the past two years. 

 
City Staff will utilize the informal request for quotes (RFQ) process to obtain 
competitive quotes for the repair work.  The RFQ document sent to Contractors 



Page 3 of 6 
 

is attached to this memo. The estimate for the work is approximately $50,000.  
The RFQ results will be available Friday, January 29th and will be provided as a 
supplement to this memo prior to the Council meeting. Funding for the repairs 
was budgeted and will be provided by the Promote Astoria Fund.  It is likely that 
the repair work combined with this year's inspection effort will exceed the 
amount budgeted for trestle repair in the Promote Astoria Fund.  Additional 
funding is available in the Promote Astoria Fund Contingency to cover the cost 
in excess of the funded amount.  Staff is requesting approval in this fashion in an 
effort to complete the trestle maintenance work prior to the start of Trolley 
operation in early March.  Since both inspection and maintenance work will be 
occurring simultaneously, critical maintenance items identified in this year's 
inspection will be added to the trestle repair scope if possible.  It is 
recommended that Council authorize staff to execute a construction contract 
with the Contractor that provides the lowest responsible quote for an amount up 
to $50,000. 

 
Item 6(e): Salary Resolution Establishing Basic Compensation Plan Cost of Living 

Wage Adjustments for the Astoria Public Safety Association and Police 
Sworn Management (Finance) 

 
Staff positions and associated compensation are detailed in the "Resolution 
Establishing a Basic Compensation Plan for the Employees of the City of 
Astoria and Establishing Regulations for the Placement of Present Employees 
within the Wage and Salary Schedules Provided".  Whenever there are changes 
in positions, whether a position is begin deleted, added or redefined; or whether 
a change in compensation is proposed; such changes are adopted by 
resolution.  This proposed resolution implements a 1.5% cost of living wage 
adjustment for both the Astoria Public Safety Association and Police Sworn 
Management effective January 1, 2016.  It is recommended that Council adopt 
the Salary Resolution as presented. 

 
Item 6(f): Oregon Library Association Resource Sharing Committee Passport 

Program Agreement (Library) 
 

In September 2011, the Oregon Library Association (OLA) created the 
Resource Sharing Committee (RSC) to explore and recommend a statewide 
resource sharing option.  On June 8, 2012, the Oregon Library Association 
Board voted to accept Oregon Library Passport, assigning the RSC as a 
standing committee of OLA to steward the program.  A three year pilot project 
began in January, 2013 and that data was collected to evaluate the program.  At 
the direction of the Astoria City Council on December 3, 2012, the Astoria Public 
Library joined Passport, offering a limited use Passport card.  On December 4, 
2015, the Oregon Library Association declared the pilot program a success, and 
transferred Oregon Library Passport program (OLP) to ongoing status.  With 
more than 150 libraries participating statewide, OLP libraries reported 2,216 
registered patrons who borrowed 92,326 items.  In Astoria, 64 Passport 
cardholders have checked out 926 items.  Attached is an agreement which 
would continue Passport services.  It has been reviewed and approved as to 
form by the City Attorney.  It is recommended that Council update the pilot 



Page 4 of 6 
 

program agreement by approving the Oregon Library Passport Program 
Statement of Shared Understanding Agreement. 

 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Item 7(a): Revised Findings of Fact for Appeals by Ron Zilli (Community 

Development) 
(1) AP15-01 – New Construction Permit NC15-03 for Verizon Wireless  
(2) AP15-02 – Variance V15-03 for Verizon Wireless  
(3) AP15-03 – Wireless Communications Facility Permit WCF15-03 for 

Verizon Wireless 
 

Verizon Wireless LLC applied for a New Construction permit (NC15-03) to the 
Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) to construct a new wireless 
communication facility at 1580 Shively Park Road within Shively Park as well as 
a Variance permit (V15-03) to the Astoria Planning Commission (APC) to construct 
a new wireless communication facility at 1580 Shively Park Road within Shively 
Park with a height of 150’ which exceeds the 45’ maximum height, and a Wireless 
Communications Facility permit (WCF15-03) to the Astoria Planning Commission 
(APC) to construct a new wireless communication facility at 1580 Shively Park 
Road within Shively Park.  On September 15, 2015, the HLC held a public 
hearing and approved the New Construction request with conditions and on 
September 16, 2015, the APC held public hearings and approved the Variance 
V15-03 and Wireless Communications Facility WCF15-03 requests with 
conditions.  Notices of Appeal on the HLC and APC decisions were submitted by 
Ron Zilli on September 30, 2015. 

 
A complete record of each of the requests has been compiled and was provided 
for Council at the January 19, 2016 meeting. A public hearing on the Appeals 
were advertised and held November 16, 2015. At the request of Verizon, City 
Council continued the public hearing to December 7, 2015.  At its December 7, 
2015 meeting, Council continued the public hearing to January 4, 2016 due to 
the holidays to allow for greater public participation in the hearing.  At its 
December 17, 2015 meeting, the City Council continued the public hearing to 
the January 19, 2016 meeting at the request of Verizon.  

 
The appellant asserts that the NC15-01, V15-02, and WCF15-03 permits for the 
proposed 150’ tall, metal wireless communications facility tower should be 
denied.  The specific issues for denial on each of the permits appealed by Mr. 
Zilli were summarized and submitted to the Council for the public hearing.  On 
January 19, 2016, the City Council held the public hearings and closed the 
public portion of the hearings.  At that meeting, the Council voted 3 to 2 to 
tentatively deny the three requests and uphold the appeals pending adoption of 
revised Findings of Fact for denial.  The Council decision on each appeal will 
need to be done with separate motions.  Suggested Forms of Motion will be 
available for Council consideration at the Council meeting on February 1, 2016.  
It would be in order for the Council to adopt the revised Findings of Fact for the 
following three appeals: Appeal AP15-01 on New Construction Permit NC15-03, 



Page 5 of 6 
 

Appeal AP15-02 on Variance Permit V15-03 and Appeal AP15-03 on Wireless 
Communication Facility Permit WCF15-03. 

 
Item 7(b): Local Option Tax – Marijuana Retailers (Police) 
 

Under House Bill 3400, cities may impose up to a 3 percent tax on sales of 
marijuana items made by those with recreational retail licenses.  This tax must 
be imposed by referring an ordinance to the voters at a statewide general 
election, meaning an election in November of an even-numbered year.  There is 
no provision in law for taxing medical sales.  
 
As with any revenue raising measure, it’s important that the budget committee 
approve any proposed taxes as part of its approval of the budget.  See the 
Department of Revenue “Tax Election Ballot Measures” manual for more 
information. 
 
In anticipation of this matter being brought to City Council to consider referring 
the matter to the voters, Police Chief Johnston visited with the four existing 
medical marijuana retailers who have all “opted in” for recreational sales.  All of 
the retailers were very open to the conversation.  Some relevant points to the 
conversation included: 
 
• Three of the four existing businesses plan on converting to recreational 

outlets.  The fourth has plans to remain a medical outlet but will be opening 
an additional outlet that is a recreational outlet.  

• Three of the four existing businesses were very supportive of the City 
pursuing the tax. The fourth was supportive after a discussion on the state 
tax plan.  They initially believed that this three percent would be on top of the 
existing 25 percent being levied by the state.  Once they learned that the tax 
would be imposed only on the licensed recreational facility that will have a 
state tax rate of seventeen percent and not in addition to the higher “opt in” 
tax of twenty five percent they were supportive.  

• Based on verbal estimates of what the businesses have seen for 
recreational sales since the October “opt in” sales began revenue is 
estimated to be in the neighborhood of $100,000 annually.  

 
Revenue estimates are very rough.  Given the early sales this is a conservative 
number; however, what the sales will look like over time is difficult to gauge.  
The opt in law only allowed sales of flower and not extracts or other marijuana 
related products.  The retail price of edibles and other extracts is more 
expensive than that of flowers.  How the availability of these products in the 
market shapes the sales is unknown.  Additionally, it is unknown what tourism 
opportunities are available to this market.  Several of the current owners have 
plans to market toward the tourist economy.  They also see several other 
markets available that will require legislative change.  

 
One concern that we tried to address is a concern that high tax will move 
people back to the black market. All four of the current retailers in Astoria do not 



Page 6 of 6 
 

believe they are competing on price with the black market.  They instead are 
offering a variety, safety, and surety that the black market cannot.  None thought 
that the tax would move people back to the black market.  

 
To refer the matter to the voters, Council would hold a first reading and second 
reading of the ordinance at separate meetings then adopt the ordinance by a 
roll call.  After adopting the ordinance Council would adopt the resolution.  This 
adoption will set the ballot title.  The ballot title will be published in the 
“newspaper of general circulation in the city.”  After a period of review, if no 
objection to the ballot title is filed the matter will be filed with the County 
Elections Official.  It is recommended that Council consider holding a first 
reading of the proposed ordinance to refer a 3 percent local option tax to the 
November 8, 2016 ballot.  

 
 



  

Page 1 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
January 4, 2016 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: Assistant City Manager/Police Chief Johnston, Community Development Director Cronin, Planner 
Ferber, Parks and Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Library Director 
Tucker, Public Works Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The meeting is recorded and will be 
transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 

Item 3(a): Councilor Nemlowill had no reports. 
 

Item 3(b): Councilor Herzig reported that a candlelight walk and soup dinner would be held on 
Monday January 18, 2016 in honor of Martin Luther King Day. The walk would begin at the corner of 12th and 
Commercial in front of the Liberty Theater at 5:30 pm and end at Peace Lutheran Fellowship Hall, where North 
Coast Food Web would provide the soup dinner. He has spent a lot of time at the Astoria Warming Center, 
which has been open 37 nights since it opened for the season. The center has been open more nights than it 
has been closed, serving 53 men, and 14 women. About 1,000 hours of volunteer time have accumulated. The 
center never expected to be open so often, but the weather has been such that the center needed to be 
available. He noted that Councilor Price, Mayor LaMear, and Cliff LaMear have served as volunteers. One night, 
Mr. LaMear had gone home to get a pair of shoes that he gave to one of the guests. The amount of support for 
the warming center has been incredible. All of the support has come from private donors and volunteers. The 
warming center will continue for as long as possible to keep Astoria’s citizens alive through the winter. 
 

Item 3(c): Councilor Price reported that on Saturday, January 2nd, she received a third call in about 
two months from a citizen who wanted to know what to do with a dead deer in their yard. She called the Astoria 
Police Department, Astoria Public Works, and the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW) and learned 
it was not their responsibility to remove dead animals from private property. She believed this was an important 
issue and would provide an update at the next City Council meeting. Earlier in the day, she met Ray Merritt at the 
site of the Safeway hole, where dirt will be removed starting on Wednesday, January 6th. 
 

Item 3(d): Councilor Warr reported that he attended the Historical Society’s New Year’s Eve party. 
Attendance was lower than expected, but the event was wonderful. While not a fundraiser, everyone had a good 
time and he hoped the event would continue for several more years. Herb Olson, a former long-time employee 
of his who had recently retired, was admitted to the hospital earlier that day. He asked for good thoughts and 
prayers for Mr. Olson. 
 

Item 3(e): Mayor LaMear reported that City Manager Estes had fallen on his deck and broken a toe. 
He was absent from the meeting because he was still recuperating. Patsy Oser was also recuperating after 
falling and breaking her wrist. 
 
CHANGES TO AGENDA:   No changes. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

Item 5(a): Parks Department CHIP-in Program 
 
In 2015, Citizens Helping Improve Parks (CHIP-in), a Parks and Recreation program entering its second year 
with a focus on inspiring community based stewardship by reconnecting citizens with their parks, cleaned up 11 
of Astoria’s 63 parks. Two hundred twenty-seven volunteers dedicated over 680 hours of their time resulting in 
the beautification of our parks and countless community connections, both to other citizens and our environment. 



  

Page 2 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

Melissa Keyser, the CHIP-in Volunteer Coordinator, will update the Council with statistics and results from the 
past year of CHIP-in events as well as provide goals for 2016. As the second year of the program ends, the 
necessity and success of the CHIP-in program is evident. The strength and vast potential of community-based 
stewardship is clearly exemplified in this past years work. 
 
Director Cosby introduced Melissa Keyser, who started working for the Parks Department over the summer as 
the part-time volunteer coordinator. Ms. Keyser’s position with the City is her second job and she does a great 
job managing the CHIP-in program. 
 
Melissa Keyser gave the annual update on the CHIP-in program via PowerPoint. The mission statement she 
developed for the program was, “To inspire community-based stewardship by reconnecting citizens with their 
parks.” In 2015, the program’s second year, there were three main goals; 1) Beautify Astoria’s 63 parks, 2) 
Reconnect citizens with their parks and over 200 acres of park land, and 3) Focus on environmental stewardship 
through community volunteerism. CHIP-in hosted at least one event each month beginning in March 2015. She 
created a monthly volunteer email, which now has more than 100 recipients. Events are consistently promoted 
on social media and she participated in the AHS Community Fair. The program had about 250 volunteers in 
2014 and 227 volunteers in 2015. In 2015, 50 of the volunteers were students from Tongue Point Job Corps. 
The students have been fantastic at all of the CHIP-in events. Volunteer turnouts were consistent with about an 
average of 20 volunteers for each event. Volunteer hours in 2015 totaled 681 hours, which is valued at over 
$15,000 for the year. In 2014, volunteers contributed 750 hours of labor. She hoped the number of volunteers 
and hours worked would increase in 2016. Of the 12 events scheduled for 2015, one was cancelled due to 
weather and two were scheduled through outside organizations, the Kennewick Coast Guard and the Clatsop 
Community College Talent Search. CHIP-in partnered with five organizations and cleaned up 11 of the 63 parks. 
She reviewed each CHIP-in event as follows: 

• Evergreen Field, March 22nd – There were only five volunteers due to extremely wet weather. Volunteers 
replaced backstops, laid new tarp under the bleachers, rehung the volleyball net, and removed weeds. 

• Tapiola Park, April 19th – There were 63 volunteers, 15 from Tongue Point, who put in over 100 yards of 
cedar chips and eight yards of sand, painted the Liberty Theater, and weeded around the play area. 

• Fred Lindstrom Park, May 8th – This even was coordinated with Clatsop Community College Talent 
Search. Twenty volunteers picked up trash and pulled weeds. 

• Ocean View Cemetery, May 17th – This was the last event with Janice O’Malley Galizio as volunteer 
coordinator. There were 24 volunteers, 20 from Tongue Point, who cleaned headstones, cleared grave 
marker, and removed weeds. 

• Fort Astoria Park, June 21st – There were 8 volunteers led by Jonah Dart-McLean, Parks Maintenance 
Supervisor, who put in 20 yards of mulch donated by Trails End Recovery. Fort George donated 30 $5 
gift cards for the volunteers. 

• Cathedral Tree Trail, July 19th – This event was also led by Mr. Dart-McLean. There were 30 volunteers, 
6 were Lewis and Clark National Park staff, and 10 were Tongue Point students. Volunteers cleared 
brush from a fourth of the trail, built a 45-foot boardwalk and three new water bars, removed and 
replaced four steps, and trimmed trees. 

• Riverwalk, August 22nd – This was Ms. Keyser’s first event. There were 28 volunteers, 5 from Portland, 
who picked up over 10 bags of trash, weeded, removed invasive plants, and cleared overgrown brush. 
Volunteers received special commemorative t-shirts for the event. 

• Aquatic Center, September 13th – There were 19 volunteers, 10 from Tongue Point, led by Pam Pearce, 
Recreation Coordinator. Volunteers cleaned up the exterior of the facility while the inside was being 
repaired, repainted the caution paint, weeded, trimmed, mowed, and put down about 5 yards of bark 
mulch. 

• Maritime Memorial Park, October 16th – This event was hosted by Kennewick Coast Guard, who hosted 
the event to celebrate the promotion of one of their members. There were 9 volunteers, 7 from the Coast 
Guard, who cut back overgrown shrubs, trimmed trees, picked up trash, pulled weeds, and put in bark 
mulch. 

• Recreation Center, November 15th – This event was led by Terra Patterson, Recreation Coordinator. 
There were 10 volunteers who painted the kid zone, mopped and cleaned the inside of the facility, 
picked up trash outside the facility, pulled weeds, and put in bark mulch. 

• Li’l Sprouts/Port of Play, December 20th - There were 11 volunteers who painted the Port of Play grocery 
store and an outdoor mural and wiped down surfaces. She and Erin Reilly, Volunteer Coordinator, 
designed and executed the mural, which included a road that led into the door. Unfortunately, the road 
was very slick and had to be washed off. The road will be painted back on with sanded paint. The logo 



  

Page 3 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

for the grocery store resembled the Astoria Co-op Grocery. She asked for donations of empty boxes and 
cans for the grocery store, which did not have much play food items. 

• She is currently working on the 2016 calendar of events and planning a volunteer appreciation event for the 
end of the year. She will focus on fundraising, increasing park adoptions, and increasing the “Friends of” 
groups. She plans to speak with regular park users to find out who would be interested in facilitating a group 
to plan events with the help of the City. Community partnerships are another important goal. In the past, 
CHIP-in has worked with Lewis and Clark National Park, but she would like to partner with the North Coast 
Watershed Association, the Columbia River Estuary Study Taskforce (CREST), and the North Coast Land 
Conservancy because their goals are similar to Astoria’s. She is currently planning an event for March with 
the North Coast Watershed Association, who usually provides all of the plants to be planted. She also plans 
to focus on providing historical contexts and environmental information at CHIP-in events. This could include 
a brief presentation or providing historic maps or pictures. She believed citizens were inspired by the past 
and how parks have changed over the years. 

• The value of community participation and stewardship in 2015 is evident and the resulting improvements 
provide true benefits to the Parks and Recreation Department. The next CHIP-in event is scheduled for 
Sunday, January 17th, from 1:00 pm to 4:00 pm at Shively Hall. 

 
Mayor LaMear thanked Ms. Keyser and Ms. Galizio for all of their work with the CHIP-in program. Tongue Point 
has done remarkable things for the City, so she had previously sent a letter of appreciation for their participation. 
 
Councilor Herzig believed 2015 was a break-through year for the Parks and Recreation Department. He believed 
that Ms. Keyser and Ian Sisson, who was working on the master plan, would make 2016 even better. He 
thanked Director Cosby and Mr. Dart-McLean for their leadership in the department. 
 

Item 5(b): Marc Warren, Oregon Liquor Control Commission Licensing Process Inspector 
 
Marc Warren from the Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) will be presenting the process for local 
government review of both liquor license applications and recreational marijuana applications. 
 
Marc Warren, 65 North Highway 101, Warrenton, explained that he had been working as District Inspector for 
the OLCC for about 2½ years, since retiring from the Coast Guard in 2013. His district includes the north half of 
Tillamook County, all of Clatsop County, and all of Columbia County. He currently inspects about 400 licensed 
practices. With the legalization of marijuana, OLCC has made some changes because they will be regulating the 
licensing and the retail outlets. He gave a presentation, which included a brief on the liquor licensing process and 
a compare and contrast between the liquor and marijuana licensing processes. His presentation was as follows: 
• Measure 91 gives OLCC the authority to tax, license, and regulate the recreational marijuana commercial 

program, which includes all products grown, sold, and processed for commercial purposes. The OLCC 
places emphasis on brining Oregon’s commercial marijuana industry into a mainstream regulated 
marketplace.  
• The OLCC has no authority to regulate or enforce the homegrown, personal use, or personal 

possession laws. Enforcement of these laws is left to local law enforcement. It will be up to local 
jurisdictions and the State Police to decide how to deal with unlicensed premises and personal 
possession limits. 

• The Oregon Health Authority currently regulates the medical marijuana dispensaries, which are only 
allowed to sell less than an ounce of buds and flowers. The OLCC has no authority over the medical 
marijuana dispensaries. The health authority’s jurisdiction over these facilities will sunset in December 
2016, at which time each facility must decide how to proceed because a dispensary cannot be both a 
medical and recreational dispensary. 

• OLCC will focus on preventing sales to minors, protecting consumers by establishing standards through 
regulatory enforcement, and supporting local law enforcement efforts to regulate and enforce unlicensed 
sales and production. 

• OLCC is responsible for regulatory enforcement actions against businesses, not individuals, and only those 
businesses that are licensed by the OLCC to grow, produce, wholesale, or sell directly to the public 
recreational marijuana. 

• Even though the OLCC began accepting license applications today, they are currently in the process of 
drafting rules that will likely become final in March or April.  



  

Page 4 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

• Marijuana licensing is done online and no paper applications are available, like liquor licensing. The 
licensing fee is non-refundable. Once an application is submitted, the online license system verifies the 
application is complete before accepting it. 

• The only local government input for marijuana licensing is the Land Use Compatibility Statement, unlike 
alcohol licensing, which includes the local governing body recommendation process. 
• The City must decide which local governing body must review the Land Use Compatibility Statement, 

which will be used to address zoning, use of the land, the building, ownership of the property with 
respect to the type of license being requested, and large scale city planning. 

• Police Chief Johnston noted the Community Development Department had already received and 
processed a Land Use Compatibility Statement from a grow operation. The City has 21 days to process 
the statements, which are reviewed administratively unless there is an issue that needs to be reviewed 
by the Planning Commission. 

• The OLCC does not require a recommendation from the city on a marijuana license, like it does with a 
liquor license. 

• He confirmed for Councilor Herzig that if the City’s’ planning process determines a marijuana use is not 
compatible, the license will be denied. The OLCC cannot grant a license that is not compatible with the 
land use. This is different from the liquor licensing process, which has denial criteria. 

• Licenses will be denied if the facility is proposed to be located in a prohibited zone, on federal land, at 
the same physical address or location as a medical dispensary or an OLCC licensed premises, and if 
the proposed location is within 500 feet of a protected facility like a school, place of worship, or childcare 
facility. 

• No public notices will be published for proposed marijuana facility licenses. 
• An inspection will be done on premises prior to granting a license. This is not done with liquor licenses. All 

marijuana facilities must pass strict security codes and other requirements. This means the facility must be 
ready to operate before the license is granted. 

• Applicant denial criteria does not allow for a recommendation by the local government. The OLCC will deny 
applicants who have a record of excessive use of alcohol, marijuana, or any other controlled substance, 
have made false statements to the OLCC, are incompetent or physically unable to carry on the management 
of the facility, or are not of good repute or moral character. Most applicants are denied because they have 
made false statements, had a habit of use, or did not have good moral character. 
• A person who owed a large sum of money to the City or County would not be considered to have good 

moral character and would have their application denied. 
• Applicants can overcome denial of an application over time by participating in a rehabilitation program, 

following probation, or taking other appropriate measures to resolve their issues. However, the reason 
for denial and appropriate measures to overcome the denial must be specifically stated. 

• Previously licensed individuals who have had a poor record of compliance will also be denied. 
• He reviewed the liquor license actions that require a recommendation from the City.  
• State statutes do not require public notices when a marijuana facility opens. Marijuana was legalized through 

a vote by the people, so there is not as much government oversight as there would be if marijuana was 
legalized by the legislature. Public input is not necessary because people have already indicated through the 
voting process that they want marijuana. Public notices and the local government process are required for 
liquor licenses because the alcohol laws were passed by the legislature. 

• Public consumption of marijuana is not allowed. He showed photographs of signs that the OLCC is giving to 
local bars to be placed in their smoking areas. The OLCC has no jurisdiction over public marijuana smoking, 
but bars can call the police. 

 
Mayor LaMear asked how many and what types of facilities were currently in Astoria. Chief Johnston said he 
was only aware of the dispensaries because they are visible. The Police Department does not have the 
opportunity to review license applications. There are four medical marijuana dispensaries and all four have opted 
in to doing retail sales. One medical grow facility has submitted a land use compatibility statement and plans to 
apply for a recreational license. Through December, the medical facilities can sell marijuana for recreational use. 
By the end of 2016, the facilities must decide which type of license to have. Medical facilities that want to sell for 
recreational use must apply for a recreational license and completely convert to retail sales. Facilities will not be 
able to hold both a medical and recreational license at the same time. 
 
Mr. Warren added that medical facilities choosing to remain medical facilities would have an opportunity to sell 
their excess recreational products to retail outlets. 



  

Page 5 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

 
Councilor Warr confirmed the grow facility would be located on Portway Street next to Marine Drive. Chief 
Johnston said the facility was a medical facility that planned to convert to a recreational facility. 
 
Councilor Herzig confirmed that by 2017, all facilities would be either medical or recreational. 
 

Item 5(c): Coalition to Develop Partnerships for Dealing with Homeless/Community Interactions 
Report 

 
Chief Johnston will present a report to Council on the work of the Coalition to Develop Partnerships for Dealing 
with Homeless/Community Interactions. 
 
Chief Johnston gave a report on the Coalition to Develop Partnerships for Dealing with Homeless/Community 
Interactions, which was included in the agenda packet. The reported included six recommended community 
engagement activities Staff would use to guide possible future actions. Future action items would be presented 
through the budget process. He believed building capacity in the non-profit sector would make the biggest 
impact. However, this is not the City’s responsibility. He thanked the coalition members and the community for 
their work. 
 
Mayor LaMear thanked Chief Johnston for leading the coalition and doing exactly what City Council hoped he 
would. Her goal was to see various organizations come together to talk. The recommendations are very 
important. The City cannot take responsibility for the recommendations, but they do provide a framework to work 
from. 
 
Councilor Price thanked Chief Johnston, Councilor Herzig, and Mayor LaMear for their advocacy of communities 
that are disadvantaged. This is the first time City Council has taken an interest in the homeless population and 
encourage community groups to work together to create solutions. 
 
Councilor Herzig said that while the City does not have the primary responsibility over these issues, the City does 
suffer from the issues. When the warming center is open, the emergency room at Columbia Memorial Hospital 
(CMH) receives much less traffic from homeless people. The City pays a heavy price for failing to address the 
issues. Many people believed the coalition was going to be a permanent group, but he kept telling people it was 
just an ad-hoc group to deal with the influx of homeless people and contention with the downtown merchants. He 
has been speaking with the National Alliance on Mental Illness and CMH about forming a new task force to carry 
forward these recommendations because the issues must be addressed. The City and the citizens are paying 
too high a price. The analysis is great, but the City must include community partners who have not been 
communicating. He hoped the new crisis center at Coryell’s Crossing would be the nucleus for expanding 
services through the county. Even though homelessness is not the City’s responsibility, everyone pays a price 
and the City is suffering in many ways. Everyone will benefit from moving to address the issues. The coalition 
was a very fluid group and Lisa Reid had the difficult task of speaking on behalf of the downtown merchants, 
who were angry about public defecation. Arriving at an agreed solution from that perspective was incredible. 
 
Celia Davis, 1354 Miller, Astoria, asked if CMH was asked to participate in the coalition. 
 
Chief Johnston said the City wanted a CMH representative on the coalition, but Staff had issues getting 
someone to engage. Once the meetings began, he stopped trying to get someone from the hospital to 
participate.  
 
Ms. Davis said this was astonishing. She volunteers at the hospital and warming center. She has heard the 
nurses talk about the impacts of the warming center when it is open. She was at the warming center at 3:00 am 
when a person came in after being discharged from the hospital. Councilor Herzig and people in the community 
have been trying to make a connection with the hospital. She was hopeful about the task force and hoped it 
would allow the hospital to be engaged. She understood Councilor Herzig had made a successful contact with 
someone at the hospital. 
 
Councilor Herzig said Erik Thorsen had clearly stated that using the emergency room as a warming shelter is an 
incredible waste of the facility and resources. He had agreed and said the warming center could not provide 



  

Page 6 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

nursing to people who had been discharged from the hospital but still needed care. Some of these people have 
been unable to walk. 
 
Ms. Davis agreed and said this is a cost to the community. 
 
Councilor Herzig added that the hospital, the warming center, and the City are not at fault. However, until this 
gap is addressed, money, health, and the community’s well-being will be lost. 
 
George McCartin, 490 Franklin Avenue, Astoria, said it was wonderful that the coalition was able to make the 
recommendations, but this is the end of the line for the coalition. He believed the community needed to move 
beyond making recommendations. It is easy to say this is a national problem, a county problem, or a state 
problem, not Astoria’s problem; however, anyone who has been to the warming center realizes that this is 
Astoria’s problem. The City Council needs to recognize that they are the leaders of the City and they must do 
something concrete about the issues. He hoped the strategic planning would include issues related to 
homelessness. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
The following items were presented on the Consent Calendar: 

6(a) City Council Minutes of 12/7/15 
6(b) Managing Oregon Resources Efficiently (More) IGA (Public Works) 
6(c) Rural Gateways Grant Application (Library) 
6(d) Astoria Senior Center Renovation Project Architectural Services Contract Amendment No. 3 (Public 

Works) 
 
Councilor Herzig requested Item 6(b) be removed for further discussion. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Warr, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Items 6(a), (c), 
and (d) of the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, 
and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 6(b): Managing Oregon Resources Efficiently (More) IGA (Public Works) 
 
Councilor Herzig explained that a number of cities and counties throughout Oregon have agreed to share 
resources, which sounds like a good idea. The contract allows Astoria to borrow something it needs from 
another city; however, Astoria is not obligated to provide anything to other jurisdictions. He asked how the 
contracts would be reviewed. Chief Johnston said anything under $10,000 could be authorized by the City 
Manager and City Council would review requests that exceed the City Manager’s authority. 
 
Councilor Herzig said the agreement looked great and he believed it would benefit Astoria. Instead of going 
through independent contracting each time, the City can just go through this centrally managed resource to apply 
for resources. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Item 6(b) of 
the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor 
LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 7(a): Ordinance Readopting Oregon Revised Statutes (Code Section 1.047) (1st Reading) 
(City Attorney) 

 
The 2015 legislation passed by the Oregon Legislature, for the most part, became effective on January 1, 2016. 
Many of our City ordinances refer to or incorporate state statutes. Every year, the City routinely re-adopts all 
referenced ORS sections to pick up any changes made by the legislature. This is done by a "global readoption,” 
which was the technique recommended by the League of Oregon Cities. The City is legally unable to 
prospectively adopt Oregon legislative changes, that is, we cannot adopt a state statute "as it now exists and is 



  

Page 7 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  January 4, 2016 

from time to time amended." The proposed ordinance has been reviewed and approved by the City Attorney. It is 
recommended that Council conduct the first reading of the proposed ordinance. 
 
Mayor LaMear explained this was a bookkeeping item. Astoria just needs to make sure its ordinances comply 
with State laws. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr to conduct the first reading 
of the ordinance readopting Oregon Revised Statutes Code Section 1.047. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: 
Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Director Brooks conducted the first reading of the ordinance. 
 
NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 

Item 8(a): Election of City Council President 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Warr, seconded by Councilor Price to elect Councilor Nemlowill 
as City Council President for 2016. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill 
and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no public comments. 
 
City Council recessed to Executive Session at 8:07 pm. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Item 9(a): ORS192.660 (2) (h) – Legal Counsel  
 
The City Council will recess to Executive Session to consult with counsel concerning legal rights and duties 
regarding current litigation or litigation likely to be filed. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:08 pm.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



 

-1- 
 

Astoria Library Board Meeting  
Astoria Public Library 

December 8, 2015 
5:30 pm. 

 
The recorder did not work properly.  This document has been prepared from handwritten notes. 
 
Present: Library Board members Kate Summers, Susan Stein, Kimberley Chaput, and Chris Womack. 

Staff Library Director Jane Tucker. 
 
Excused:   David Oser 
 
Call to Order:  Chair Kate Summers called the meeting to order at 5:35 pm. 
 
Approval of Agenda:  Approved.  
 
Approval of Minutes:  Minutes of November 24, 2015 were approved as presented. 
 
Renovation Update: 
 
 Item 4(a): Community Development Report on Heritage Square Study 
  
Board Reports:   
 
Library Director’s Report:  Director Tucker reported that Patty Skinner set up a new Read to Me Mini 
Library in the laundry room of the Bayshore Apartments.  This is a library of English/Spanish bilingual 
books for parents and older siblings to read to children ages birth-5.  Funded by the Ready to Read grant, 
these mini libraries are one more way to provide books to children who may not be able to visit the 
Library.  There are mini libraries in the Emerald Heights office, the Astoria Dry Cleaners and Laundromat 
next to Dairy Queen, and the Lower Columbia Hispanic Council office.  Lower Columbia Hispanic Council 
staff also use the mini library in the office for home visits. 

 
Director Tucker will meet with Interim County Manager Rich Mays in December regarding Libraries 
ROCC. 
 
A question was asked as to whether Emerald Heights is within the city limits of Astoria.  Director Tucker 
will confirm whether it is or is not. 
 
Update on ALFA activities:  No report. 
 
New Business:  Report on Heritage Square presentation to Council 
A brief review of the December 7, 2015 report on Heritage Square presentation to Council was reviewed.  
Community Development Director Cronin proposed a decision tree that the council was working with at 
the meeting.  The Council tabled the question: 
 
Old Business:  No report. 
 
Public Comments:  There were none. 
 
Items for Next Meeting’s Agenda: The Board will return to its regular meeting schedule on the fourth 
Tuesday of the month. 
 
Adjournment:  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:15 pm. 
 
Meeting notes respectfully submitted, 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jane Tucker, Director, Astoria Public Library 





















































 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 

 
January 22, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: SALARY RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING BASIC COMPENSATION PLAN COST 

OF LIVING WAGE ADJUSTMENTS FOR THE ASTORIA PUBLIC SAFETY 
ASSOCIATION AND POLICE SWORN MANAGEMENT 

 
COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
Staff positions and associated compensation are detailed in the "Resolution Establishing a 
Basic Compensation Plan for the Employees of the City of Astoria and Establishing Regulations 
for the Placement of Present Employees within the Wage and Salary Schedules Provided".  
Whenever there are changes in positions, whether a position is begin deleted, added or 
redefined; or whether a change in compensation is proposed; such changes are adopted by 
resolution.  This proposed resolution implements the following changes effective January 1, 
2016: 
 
• Astoria Public Safety Association 1.5% cost of living wage adjustment as specified in 
 their contract expiring June 30, 2016 
 
• Police Sworn Management  1.5% cost of living wage adjustment per Resolution 
 No. 14-28 adopted October 6, 2014 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council adopt the Salary Resolution as presented. 
 
 

By:  
 Susan Brooks, Director of Finance  
   and Administrative Services 
 



Page 1 of 17 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-_____ 
 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A BASIC COMPENSATION PLAN FOR THE EMPLOYEES 
OF THE CITY OF ASTORIA AND ESTABLISHING REGULATIONS FOR THE PLACEMENT 
OF PRESENT EMPLOYEES WITHIN THE WAGE AND SALARY SCHEDULES PROVIDED 

 
 WHEREAS, the establishment of the principles of equal pay for equal work and 
compensation incentives for continued improvement in service by City employees should result 
in more efficient and more economical municipal government; now, therefore,  
 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ASTORIA: 
 
SECTION 1. ESTABLISHING PAY PLAN 
 
That there is hereby established a basic compensation plan for employees of the City of Astoria 
who are now employed, or will in the future be employed, in any of the classifications of 
employment listed in Sections 4, 5, 6, and 7, which are arranged in collective bargaining units, 
and Sections 8 and 9, which include employees not in a bargaining unit. 
 
SECTION 2. SALARY AND WAGE SCHEDULES 
 
That the following salary and wage schedules shall constitute the basic compensation plan, 
consisting of a base or entry rate (A) and four merit steps in the corresponding range on the 
schedule.  Stability Pay shall be part of the basic compensation plan.  (See Section 3.12 of the 
Personnel Policies and Procedures). 
 
SECTION 3. CLASSIFIED POSITION ALLOCATION 
 
That the following is a computed salary schedule and position allocation. All increases above 
the base rate for each range are called merit steps.  Step increases are merit increases and are 
not automatic but must be earned by the employee.  (See Section 3.11 of the Personnel 
Policies and Procedures).  Each range is identified by a number.  Each step within the range is 
identified by a letter; A is the entry rate, with Steps B, C, D, and E.  The following salary 
schedules are listed by employee groups: 
 
SECTION 4. GENERAL/PARKS EMPLOYEES 
 
The following positions and ranges comprise the General/Parks Employees Unit.  See 
"Schedule A" for salaries. 

SCHEDULE A 
POSITION RANGE 

LIBRARY ASSISTANT 12 
  
ACCOUNTING SUPPORT CLERK 14 
  
ACCOUNTING CLERK 
ENGINEERING SECRETARY 
PERMIT TECHNICIAN 

18 



Page 2 of 17 

 
SCHEDULE A 

POSITION RANGE 
SENIOR LIBRARY ASSISTANT 20 

  
RECREATION COORDINATOR 23 

  
COMPUTER ASSISTED DRAFTING (CAD) TECHNICIAN 
ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN 
FACILITY COORDINATOR 
GROUNDS COORDINATOR 

26 

  
SENIOR ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN 30 

 
SECTION 5. FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
The following Positions and Ranges comprise the Fire Department Unit. See "Schedule B" for 
salaries. 
 

SCHEDULE B 
POSITION RANGE 

FIREFIGHTER* 22 
  
DRIVER/ENGINEER* 24 
  
FIRE LIEUTENANT* 28 
  
DEPUTY FIRE CHIEF/TRAINING OFFICER 42 
  
FIRE CHIEF 48 

 
*The salary shown for these positions is for a 56-hour duty week.  The conditions set forth 
below shall be adhered to by the Fire Department personnel: 
 
1. Employees on the off-duty shifts shall be available for emergency service. 
 
2. A shift must be short more than one employee before a replacement is called in.  

Replacements called in to duty in such a case would receive time and one-half (1/2); 
every effort must be made by the department to keep overtime pay to a minimum. 

 
3. The duty cycle of the department shall be determined by the Fire Chief with the approval 

of the City Manager. 
 
SECTION 6. POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
The following Positions and Ranges comprise the Police Department Unit.  See "Schedule C" 
for salaries. 



Page 3 of 17 

 
SCHEDULE C 

POSITION RANGE 
RECORDS SPECIALIST 12 
  
SENIOR RECORDS SPECIALIST 14 
  
COMMUNICATIONS OPERATOR 22 
  
POLICE OFFICER 29 
  
COMMUNITY POLICING OFFICER (ROTATING) 
DETECTIVE (ROTATING ASSIGNMENT) 33 

  
SERGEANT  36 
  
DEPUTY CHIEF OF POLICE 42 
  
POLICE CHIEF/ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER  48 

 
 
SECTION 7. PUBLIC WORKS 
 
The following positions and Ranges comprise the Public Works Unit.  See "Schedule D" for 
salaries. 

SCHEDULE D 
POSITION RANGE 

EQUIPMENT SERVICER 14 
  
UTILITY WORKER 18 
  
EQUIPMENT MECHANIC I 
SWEEPER OPERATOR 
UTILITY TECHNICIAN  

20 

  
UTILITY WORKER II 22 
  
WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT OPERATOR 
WATER QUALITY TECHNICIAN 24 

  
EQUIPMENT MECHANIC II 
SENIOR BUILDING FACILITIES TECHNICIAN 
SENIOR UTILITY TECHNICIAN 
SENIOR UTILITY WORKER 
STORES SUPERVISOR 
WATER SOURCE OPERATOR 

26 



Page 4 of 17 

SCHEDULE D 
POSITION RANGE 

LEAD UTILITY WORKER 
WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT SUPERVISOR 
WATER QUALITY SUPERVISOR 

28 

 
SECTION 8. MANAGEMENT AND CONFIDENTIAL 
 
The following Positions and Ranges comprise the Management and Confidential Unit. See 
"Schedule E" for salaries. 

SCHEDULE E 
POSITION RANGE 

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 18 
  
EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 20 
  
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES MANAGER 
FINANCIAL ANALYST 28 

  
FINANCE OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR 30 
  
EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE SUPERVISOR 32 
  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT 
FINANCIAL REPORT MANAGER 
PROJECT MANAGER/CITY PLANNER 

34 

  
AQUATIC PROGRAM MANAGER 35 
  
PARKS MAINTENANCE SUPERVISOR 36 
  
BUILDING OFFICIAL/CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT 38 

  
EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS MANAGER 
LIBRARY DIRECTOR 40 

  
ASSISTANT CITY ENGINEER 45 
  
CITY ENGINEER 47 
  
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
PARKS AND RECREATION DIRECTOR 
PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

49 

  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR  51 



Page 5 of 17 

 
SECTION 9. TEMPORARY PERSONNEL 
 
Police Reserve: $11.00 (Schedule F, Range 1A 9) per training session, $11.00 per hour 
assigned duty. Police Reserve rate of pay for dances, festivals, and similar duties shall be 1-1/2 
times Range 29A.   
 
All drills and training sessions must be officially approved.  
 

CONTINGENT SEASONAL WORK 
 
The following are positions for which temporary or seasonal employees may be hired.  See 
"Schedule F-1" and “Schedule F-2” for salaries.   
 

SCHEDULE F-1 
DEPARTMENT JOB TITLES 

LIBRARY LIBRARY ASSISTANT 
  
PARKS & RECREATION LIFEGUARD 

SWIM INSTRUCTOR  
RECREATION LEADER I 
RECREATION LEADER II 
PARKS LABORER 

  
POLICE TEMPORARY COMMUNITY SERVICE 

OFFICER  
DEPARTMENT JOB TITLES 

PUBLIC WORKS PUBLIC WORKS LABORER 
WEEKEND WATER OPERATOR 

 
SCHEDULE F-2 

DEPARTMENT JOB TITLES STEP 
ALL DEPARTMENTS CLERICAL AIDE  14 
   
FINANCE ACCOUNTING SUPPORT CLERK 

PARKING CONTROL OFFICER 
19 
24 

   
LIBRARY LIBRARY PAGE I  

LIBRARY PAGE II  
LIBRARY ASSISTANT 
SENIOR LIBRARY ASSISTANT 

14 
16 
19 
31 

   
PARKS & RECREATION CASHIER  

HEAD CASHIER  
14 
16 

 
 



Page 6 of 17 

SECTION 10. ADVANCEMENT WITHIN RANGE 
 
As authorized in the City of Astoria's Personnel Policies and Procedures, Compensation Plan, 
Section 3. 
 
SECTION 11. EXCEPTIONAL AND ADDITIONAL INCREASES 
 
As authorized in the City of Astoria's Personnel Policies and Procedures, Compensation Plan, 
Section 3. 
 
SECTION 12. STABILITY PAY 
 
As authorized in the City of Astoria's Personnel Policies and Procedures, Compensation Plan, 
Section 3.12.  The table below lists the stability pay for the different employee groups:  
 

General/Parks Union Employees Step E of pay range Schedule A 
Fire IAFF Union Step A of pay range Schedule B 
Fire Management Step A of pay range Schedule B 
Police Union (sworn)  Step E of pay range Schedule C 
Police Union (nonsworn)  Step A of pay range Schedule C 
Police Management Step E of pay range Schedule C 
Public Works Union Step E of pay range Schedule D 
Management and Confidential Step E of pay range Schedule E 

 
SECTION 13. RESPONSIBILITY PAY 
 
As authorized in the City of Astoria's Personnel Policies and Procedures, Compensation Plan, 
Sections 3.13. 
 
SECTION 14. REPEAL OF RESOLUTIONS 
 
Resolution No. 15-26 adopted by the City Council on August 3, 2015, is hereby repealed and 
superseded by this resolution. 
 
SECTION 15. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
The provisions of this resolution shall become effective immediately upon passage. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS 1ST DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2016. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 1ST DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2016. 
 
 
 _________________________________ 
 Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
City Manager 
 



Page 7 of 17 

ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION:  YEA  NAY  ABSENT 
 
Councilor Nemlowill  
 Herzig  
 Price  
 Warr  
Mayor LaMear  
 
 
 
 
MANAGER\RES\SALARY RES 2-1-2016 CURRENT.DOC 



Page 8 of 17 

 
 

 
 
 PAGE 
 

SCHEDULE A – GENERAL EMPLOYEES/PARKS ---------------------------- 2 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE B – FIRE EMPLOYEES ----------------------------------------------- 3 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE C – POLICE EMPLOYEES (SWORN & NONSWORN) ------ 5 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE D – PUBLIC WORKS EMPLOYEES ------------------------------ 6 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE E – MANAGEMENT AND CONFIDENTIAL --------------------- 7 
 
 
 
 
SCHEDULE F-1 – TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES -------------------------------- 9 

 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE F-2 – GENERAL TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES --------------- 10 



Page 9 of 17 

 

GENERAL/PARKS UNION EMPLOYEES 
SCHEDULE A 

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015 

POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Library Assistant 12 

A 2,513.75 30,165 14.50 
B 2,639.44 31,673 15.23 
C 2,771.41 33,257 15.99 
D 2,909.98 34,920 16.79 
E 3,055.48 36,666 17.63 

Accounting Support Clerk 14 

A 2,629.43 31,553 15.17 
B 2,760.90 33,131 15.93 
C 2,898.94 34,787 16.72 
D 3,043.89 36,527 17.56 
E 3,196.08 38,353 18.44 

Accounting Clerk 
Engineering Secretary 
Permit Technician 

18 

A 2,903.50 34,842 16.75 
B 3,048.67 36,584 17.59 
C 3,201.11 38,413 18.47 
D 3,361.16 40,334 19.39 
E 3,529.22 42,351 20.36 

Senior Library Assistant 20 

A 3,054.19 36,650 17.62 
B 3,206.90 38,483 18.50 
C 3,367.24 40,407 19.43 
D 3,535.61 42,427 20.40 
E 3,712.39 44,549 21.42 

Recreation Coordinator 23 

A 3,290.84 39,490 18.99 
B 3,455.38 41,465 19.93 
C 3,628.15 43,538 20.93 
D 3,809.56 45,715 21.98 
E 4,000.03 48,000 23.08 

CAD Technician 
Engineering Technician 
Facility Coordinator 
Grounds Coordinator 

26 

A 3,542.64 42,512 20.44 
B 3,719.77 44,637 21.46 
C 3,905.76 46,869 22.53 
D 4,101.05 49,213 23.66 
E 4,306.10 51,673 24.84 

Senior Engineering Technician 30 

A 3,905.08 46,861 22.53 
B 4,100.33 49,204 23.66 
C 4,305.35 51,664 24.84 
D 4,520.62 54,247 26.08 
E 4,746.65 56,960 27.38 

 
 
 
 



Page 10 of 17 

FIRE UNION EMPLOYEES 
SCHEDULE B 

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2015 
POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY OVERTIME 

Firefighter 22 

A 4,260.19 51,122 17.5076 26.2614 
B 4,473.20 53,678 18.3830 27.5745 
C 4,696.86 56,362 19.3022 28.9532 
D 4,931.70 59,180 20.2673 30.4009 
E 5,178.29 62,139 21.2806 31.9209 

Includes 2.0% Stability 
C 4,782.06 57,385 19.6523 29.4785 
D 5,016.90 60,203 20.6174 30.9261 
E 5,263.49 63,162 21.6308 32.4462 

Includes 3.5% Stability 
C 4,845.96 58,152 19.9149 29.8724 
D 5,080.81 60,970 20.8800 31.3201 
E 5,327.39 63,929 21.8934 32.8401 

Includes 4.5% Stability 
C 4,888.65 58,664 20.0903 30.1355 
D 5,123.49 61,482 21.0555 31.5832 
E 5,370.08 64,441 22.0688 33.1032 

Includes 6.0% Stability 
C 4,952.55 59,431 20.3530 30.5294 
D 5,187.40 62,249 21.3181 31.9771 
E 5,433.98 65,208 22.3314 33.4971 

Driver/Engineer  24 

A 4,478.39 53,741 18.4044 27.6065 
B 4,702.31 56,428 19.3246 28.9869 
C 4,937.43 59,249 20.2908 30.4362 
D 5,184.21 62,211 21.3050 31.9575 
E 5,443.42 65,321 22.3702 33.5554 

Includes 2.0% Stability 
C 5,027.00 60,324 20.6589 30.9883 
D 5,273.78 63,285 21.6731 32.5096 
E 5,532.99 66,396 22.7383 34.1075 

Includes 3.5% Stability 
C 5,094.17 61,130 20.9350 31.4024 
D 5,340.96 64,091 21.9491 32.9237 
E 5,600.17 67,202 23.0144 34.5216 

Includes4.5% Stability 
C 5,138.96 61,667 21.1190 31.6785 
D 5,385.74 64,629 22.1332 33.1998 
E 5,644.95 67,739 23.1984 34.7976 

Includes 6.0% Stability 
C 5,206.13 62,474 21.3951 32.0926 
D 5,452.92 65,435 22.4092 33.6139 
E 5,712.13 68,546 23.4745 35.2117 

Fire Lieutenant 28 

A 4,934.58 59,215 20.2791 30.4186 
B 5,181.30 62,176 21.2930 31.9396 
C 5,440.37 65,284 22.3577 33.5365 
D 5,712.39 68,549 23.4756 35.2134 
E 5,998.01 71,976 24.6493 36.9740 

Includes 2.0% Stability 
C 5,538.89 66,467 22.7626 34.1439 
D 5,810.91 69,731 23.8805 35.8207 
E 6,096.70 73,160 25.0549 37.5824 

Includes 3.5% Stability 
C 5,612.91 67,355 23.0668 34.6002 
D 5,885.10 70,621 24.1853 36.2780 
E 6,170.72 74,049 25.3591 38.0387 

Includes 4.5% Stability 
C 5,662.26 67,947 23.2696 34.9043 
D 5,934.44 71,213 24.3881 36.5822 
E 6,220.06 74,641 25.5619 38.3429 

Includes 6.0% Stability 
C 5,736.28 68,835 23.5737 35.3606 
D 6,008.46 72,102 24.6923 37.0385 
E 6,294.08 75,529 25.8661 38.7991 



Page 11 of 17 

 
 
 

FIRE MANAGEMENT 
SCHEDULE B 

EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 2, 2015 
POSITION MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Deputy Fire Chief 7,478.29 92,456 43.1440 
Fire Chief 8,244.01 98,928 47.5616 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 12 of 17 

 
POLICE UNION EMPLOYEES 

SCHEDULE C 
EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2016 

POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Records Specialist 12 

A 2,702.32 32,428 15.59 
B 2,837.43 34,049 16.37 
C 2,979.30 35,752 17.19 
D 3,128.27 37,539 18.05 
E 3,284.68 39,416 18.95 

Senior Records Specialist 14 

A 2,837.61 34,051 16.37 
B 2,979.49 35,754 17.19 
C 3,128.47 37,542 18.05 
D 3,284.89 39,419 18.95 
E 3,449.13 41,390 19.90 

Communications Operator 22 

A 3,465.46 41,585 19.99 
B 3,638.73 43,665 20.99 
C 3,820.67 45,848 22.04 
D 4,011.70 48,140 23.14 
E 4,212.29 50,547 24.30 

Police Officer 29 

A 4,117.77 49,413 23.76 
B 4,323.66 51,884 24.94 
C 4,539.84 54,478 26.19 
D 4,766.83 57,202 27.50 
E 5,005.17 60,062 28.88 

Community Policing Officer  
Detective  33 

A 4,538.65 54,464 26.18 
B 4,765.58 57,187 27.49 
C 5,003.86 60,046 28.87 
D 5,254.05 63,049 30.31 
E 5,516.76 66,201 31.83 

 
 

POLICE SWORN MANAGEMENT 
SCHEDULE C 

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2016 

Sergeant 36 

A 4,867.52  58,410  28.08  
B 5,110.89  61,331  29.49  
C 5,366.44  64,397  30.96  
D 5,634.76  67,617  32.51  
E 5,916.50  70,998  34.13  

Deputy Chief of Police 42 

A 5,580.98  66,972  32.20  
B 5,860.03  70,320  33.81  
C 6,153.03  73,836  35.50  
D 6,460.68  77,528  37.27  
E 6,783.71  81,405  39.14  

Chief of Police/Assistant City Manager 48 

A 6,214.68  74,576  35.85  
B 6,525.41  78,305  37.65  
C 6,851.68  82,220  39.53  
D 7,194.26  86,331  41.51  
E 7,553.98  90,648  43.58  



Page 13 of 17 

 

PUBLIC WORKS UNION EMPLOYEES 
SCHEDULE D 

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015 
POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Equipment Servicer 14 

A 2,828.44  33,941  16.32  
B 2,969.86  35,638  17.13  
C 3,118.35  37,420  17.99  
D 3,274.27  39,291  18.89  
E 3,437.98  41,256  19.83  

Utility Worker 18 

A 3,118.12  37,417  17.99  
B 3,274.02  39,288  18.89  
C 3,437.72  41,253  19.83  
D 3,609.61  43,315  20.82  
E 3,790.09  45,481  21.87  

Equipment Mechanic I 
Sweeper Operator 
Utility Technician 

20 

A 3,279.12  39,349  18.92  
B 3,443.07  41,317  19.86  
C 3,615.23  43,383  20.86  
D 3,795.99  45,552  21.90  
E 3,985.79  47,829  22.99  

Utility Worker II 22 

A 3,454.72  41,457  19.93  
B 3,627.45  43,529  20.93  
C 3,808.83  45,706  21.97  
D 3,999.27  47,991  23.07  
E 4,199.23  50,391  24.23  

Wastewater Treatment Plant Operator 
Water Quality Technician 

24 
 

A 3,623.57  43,483  20.91  
B 3,804.75  45,657  21.95  
C 3,994.99  47,940  23.05  
D 4,194.74  50,337  24.20  
E 4,404.48  52,854  25.41  

Equipment Mechanic II 
Senior Building Facilities Technician 
Senior Utility Technician 
Senior Utility Worker 
Stores Supervisor 
Water Source Operator 

26 

A 3,808.84  45,706  21.97  
B 3,999.28  47,991  23.07  
C 4,199.25  50,391  24.23  
D 4,409.21  52,911  25.44  
E 4,629.67 55,556 26.71 

Lead Utility Worker 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Supervisor 
Water Quality Supervisor 

28 

A 3,991.09  47,893  23.03  
B 4,190.64  50,288  24.18  
C 4,400.17  52,802  25.39  
D 4,620.18  55,442  26.65  
E 4,851.19  58,214  27.99  

 
 



Page 14 of 17 

 
MANAGEMENT AND CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

SCHEDULE E 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015 

POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Administrative Assistant 18 

A 2,932.59  35,191 16.92  
B 3,079.22  36,951 17.76  
C 3,233.18  38,798 18.65  
D 3,394.84  40,738 19.59  
E 3,564.59  42,775 20.56  

Executive Secretary 20 

A 3,077.03  36,924 17.75  
B 3,230.88  38,771 18.64  
C 3,392.42  40,709 19.57  
D 3,562.04  42,744 20.55  
E 3,740.14  44,882 21.58  

Administrative Services Manager 
Financial Analyst 28 

A 3,749.90  44,999 21.63  
B 3,937.39  47,249 22.72  
C 4,134.26  49,611 23.85  
D 4,340.98  52,092 25.04  
E 4,558.03  54,696 26.30  

Finance Operations Supervisor 30 

A 3,937.53  47,250 22.72  
B 4,134.40  49,613 23.85  
C 4,341.12  52,093 25.04  
D 4,558.18  54,698 26.30  
E 4,786.09  57,433 27.61  

Equipment Maintenance Supervisor 32 

A 4,139.05  49,669 23.88  
B 4,346.00  52,152 25.07  
C 4,563.30  54,760 26.33  
D 4,791.46  57,498 27.64  
E 5,031.04  60,372 29.03  

Assistant Public Works Superintendent 
Financial Report Manager 
Project Manager/City Planner (as of 8-3-15) 

34 

A 4,346.85  52,162 25.08  
B 4,564.19  54,770 26.33  
C 4,792.40  57,509 27.65  
D 5,032.02  60,384 29.03  
E 5,283.62  63,403 30.48  

Aquatic Program Manager 35 

A 4,459.64  53,516 25.73  
B 4,682.62  56,191 27.02  
C 4,916.75  59,001 28.37  
D 5,162.59  61,951 29.78  
E 5,420.71  65,049 31.27  

Parks Maintenance Supervisor 36 

A 4,566.06  54,793 26.34  
B 4,794.37  57,532 27.66  
C 5,034.08  60,409 29.04  
D 5,285.79  63,429 30.49  
E 5,550.08  66,601 32.02  

Bldg Official/Code Enforcement Officer 
Public Works Superintendent 38 

A 4,806.78  57,681 27.73  
B 5,047.12  60,565 29.12  
C 5,299.48  63,594 30.57  
D 5,564.45  66,773 32.10  
E 5,842.67  70,112 33.71  



Page 15 of 17 

 
 
 

MANAGEMENT AND CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 
SCHEDULE E 

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2015 

POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Emergency Communications Manager 
Library Director 40 

A 5,055.30  60,664 29.17  
B 5,308.07  63,697 30.62  
C 5,573.47  66,882 32.15  
D 5,852.15  70,226 33.76  
E 6,144.75  73,737 35.45  

Assistant City Engineer 45 

A 5,716.76  68,601 32.98  
B 6,002.60  72,031 34.63  
C 6,302.73  75,633 36.36  
D 6,617.86  79,414 38.18  
E 6,948.76  83,385 40.09  

City Engineer 47 

A 6,004.51  72,054 34.64  
B 6,304.73  75,657 36.37  
C 6,619.97  79,440 38.19  
D 6,950.97  83,412 40.10  
E 7,298.52  87,582 42.11  

Finance Director 
Parks And Recreation Director 
Public Works Director 

49 

A 6,308.57  75,703 36.40  
B 6,624.00  79,488 38.22  
C 6,955.20  83,462 40.13  
D 7,302.96  87,635 42.13  
E 7,668.10  92,017 44.24  

Community Development Director 51 

A 6,624.19  79,490 38.22  
B 6,955.40  83,465 40.13  
C 7,303.17  87,638 42.13  
D 7,668.33  92,020 44.24  
E 8,051.74  96,621 46.45  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 16 of 17 

 

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 
SCHEDULE F-1 

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2014 
RANGE STEP HOURLY RANGE STEP HOURLY 

1A 1 9.10 2 1 21.00 
 2 9.25  2 22.00 
 3 9.50  3 23.00 
 4 9.75  4 24.00 
 5 10.00  5 25.00 
 6 10.25  6 26.00 
 7 10.50  7 27.00 
 8 10.75  8 28.00 
 9 11.00  9 29.00 
 10 11.25  10 30.00 
 11 11.50  11 31.00 
 12 11.75  12 32.00 
 13 12.00  13 33.00 
 14 12.25  14 34.00 

 15 12.50  15 35.00 
RANGE STEP HOURLY RANGE STEP HOURLY 

1B 1 12.75 3 1 37.50 
 2 13.00  2 40.00 
 3 13.25  3 42.50 
 4 13.50  4 45.00 
 5 13.75  5 47.50 
 6 14.00  6 50.00 
 7 14.25  7 52.50 
 8 14.50  8 55.00 
 9 14.75  9 57.50 
 10 15.00  10 60.00 
 11 15.25  11 62.50 
 12 15.50  12 65.00 
 13 15.75  13 67.50 
 14 16.00  14 70.00 
 15 16.25  15 72.50 
    16 75.00 

RANGE STEP HOURLY RANGE STEP HOURLY 
1C 1 16.50 4 1 80.00 

 2 16.75  2 85.00 
 3 17.00  3 90.00 
 4 17.25  4 95.00 
 5 17.50  5 100.00 
 6 17.75  6 105.00 
 7 18.00  7 110.00 
 8 18.25  8 115.00 
 9 18.50  9 120.00 
 10 18.75  10 125.00 
 11 19.00 RANGE STEP HOURLY 
 12 19.25 5 1 130.00 
 13 19.50  2 140.00 
 14 19.75  3 150.00 
 15 20.00  4 160.00 
  5 170.00 
  6 180.00 
  7 190.00 
  8 200.00 



Page 17 of 17 

 
 

 

GENERAL TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 
SCHEDULE F-2 

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2013 
POSITION RANGE STEP MONTHLY YEARLY HOURLY 

Clerical Aide (all depts.) 
Library Page I 
Parks Cashier 

14 

A 1,585.94 19,031 9.1496 
B 1,665.23 19,983 9.6071 
C 1,748.50 20,982 10.0870 
D 1,835.92 22,031 10.5920 
E 1,927.72 23,133 11.1210 

Library Page II 
Parks Head Cashier 16 

A 1,666.40 19,997 9.6139 
B 1,749.72 20,997 10.0950 
C 1,837.21 22,047 10.5990 
D 1,929.07 23,149 11.1290 
E 2,025.52 24,306 11.6860 

Finance Accounting Support Clerk 
Library Assistant 19 

A 1,792.86 21,514 10.3430 
B 1,882.50 22,590 10.8610 
C 1,976.63 23,720 11.4040 
D 2,075.46 24,906 11.9740 
E 2,179.23 26,151 12.5730 

Parking Control Officer 24 

A 2,029.61 24,355 11.7090 
B 2,131.09 25,573 12.2950 
C 2,237.65 26,852 12.9100 
D 2,349.53 28,194 13.5550 
E 2,467.01 29,604 14.233 

Senior Library Assistant 31 

A 2,380.73 28,569 13.7350 
B 2,499.77 29,997 14.4220 
C 2,624.75 31,497 15.1430 
D 2,755.99 33,072 15.9000 
E 2,893.79 34,726 16.6950 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

January 21, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: OREGON LIBRARY ASSOCIATION RESOURCE SHARING COMMITTEE 

PASSPORT PROGRAM AGREEMENT 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
In September 2011, the Oregon Library Association (OLA) created the Resource Sharing 
Committee (RSC) to explore and recommend a statewide resource sharing option.  The RSC 
proposed the Oregon Library Passport program.  The Oregon State Library Board accepted 
the recommendation, with the direction to present the findings to the OLA membership for 
comment.   
 
Passport participants qualify for library cards from participating libraries by having a library 
card in good standing at their home library.  Participants are responsible for visiting the 
participating library, following that library’s policies and procedures, and returning materials 
directly to that library.  Courier service is not provided.  Public, academic and special libraries 
are allowed to join Passport.   
 
In April, 2012, the OLA membership received the recommendations with enthusiasm and on 
June 8, 2012, the Oregon Library Association Board voted to accept Oregon Library Passport, 
assigning the RSC as a standing committee of OLA to steward the program.  A three year pilot 
project began in January, 2013 and that data was collected to evaluate the program.  At the 
direction of the Astoria City Council on December 3, 2012, the Astoria Public Library joined 
Passport, offering a limited use Passport card.  Participating libraries are listed on the Passport 
website http://librariesoforegon.org/passport.   
 
On December 4, 2015, the Oregon Library Association declared the pilot program a success, 
and transferred Oregon Library Passport program (OLP) to ongoing status.  With more than 
150 libraries participating statewide, OLP libraries reported 2,216 registered patrons who 
borrowed 92,326 items.  In Astoria, 64 Passport cardholders have checked out 926 items.  
Attached is an agreement which would continue Passport services.  It has been reviewed and 
approved as to form by the City Attorney.    
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that Council update the pilot program agreement by approving the Oregon 
Library Passport Program Statement of Shared Understanding Agreement. 
 

 By:    Jane Tucker  
 Jane Tucker, Library Director 

http://librariesoforegon.org/passport


















































































































 

  
     

CITY OF ASTORIA 
POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
 

January 25, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: LOCAL OPTION TAX - MARIJUANA RETAILERS 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
Under House Bill 3400, cities may impose up to a 3 percent tax on sales of marijuana 
items made by those with recreational retail licenses.  This tax must be imposed by 
referring an ordinance to the voters at a statewide general election, meaning an election 
in November of an even-numbered year.  There is no provision in law for taxing medical 
sales.  
 
As with any revenue raising measure, it’s important that the budget committee approve 
any proposed taxes as part of its approval of the budget.  See the Department of 
Revenue “Tax Election Ballot Measures” manual for more information. 
 
In anticipation of this matter being brought to City Council to consider referring the 
matter to the voters, Police Chief Johnston visited with the four existing medical 
marijuana retailers who have all “opted in” for recreational sales.  All of the retailers 
were very open to the conversation.  Some relevant points to the conversation included: 

• Three of the four existing businesses plan on converting to recreational 
outlets.  The fourth has plans to remain a medical outlet but will be opening 
an additional outlet that is a recreational outlet.  

• Three of the four existing businesses were very supportive of the City 
pursuing the tax. The fourth was supportive after a discussion on the state tax 
plan.  They initially believed that this three percent would be on top of the 
existing 25 percent being levied by the state.  Once they learned that the tax 
would be imposed only on the licensed recreational facility that will have a 
state tax rate of seventeen percent and not in addition to the higher “opt in” 
tax of twenty five percent they were supportive.  

• Based on verbal estimates of what the businesses have seen for recreational 
sales since the October “opt in” sales began revenue is estimated to be in the 
neighborhood of $100,000 annually.  

 



 

Revenue estimates are very rough.  Given the early sales this is a conservative number; 
however, what the sales will look like over time is difficult to gauge.  The opt in law only 
allowed sales of flower and not extracts or other marijuana related products.  The retail 
price of edibles and other extracts is more expensive than that of flowers.  How the 
availability of these products in the market shapes the sales is unknown.  Additionally, it 
is unknown what tourism opportunities are available to this market.  Several of the 
current owners have plans to market toward the tourist economy.  They also see 
several other markets available that will require legislative change.  
 
One concern that we tried to address is a concern that high tax will move people back to 
the black market. All four of the current retailers in Astoria do not believe they are 
competing on price with the black market.  They instead are offering a variety, safety, 
and surety that the black market cannot.  None thought that the tax would move people 
back to the black market.  
 
To refer the matter to the voters, Council would hold a first reading and second reading 
of the ordinance at separate meetings then adopt the ordinance by a roll call.  After 
adopting the ordinance Council would adopt the resolution.  This adoption will set the 
ballot title.  The ballot title will be published in the “newspaper of general circulation in 
the city.”  After a period of review, if no objection to the ballot title is filed the matter will 
be filed with the County Elections Official.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council consider holding a first reading of the proposed 
ordinance to refer a 3 percent local option tax to the November 8, 2016 ballot.  
 

 
______________________________ 
Brad Johnston 
Chief of Police  
Assistant City Manager 



ORDINANCE NO. 16-_____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ASTORIA IMPOSING A THREE PERCENT TAX 
ON THE SALE OF MARIJUANA ITEMS BY A MARIJUANA RETAILER AND 

REFERRING ORDINANCE 
 

WHEREAS, Section 34a of House Bill 3400 (2015) provides that a city council 
may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters that imposes up to a three percent 
tax or fee on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to 
the jurisdiction of the city; 
 

WHEREAS, the Astoria City Council wants to impose a tax on the sale of 
marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the City. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ASTORIA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Definitions. 
 
(1) “Marijuana Item” has the meaning given that term in Oregon Laws 2015, Chapter 

614, Section 1. 
 
(2) “Marijuana Retailer” means a person who sells marijuana items to a consumer in 

this state. 
 
(3) “Retail Sale Price” means the price paid for a marijuana item, excluding tax, to a 

marijuana retailer by or on behalf of a consumer of the marijuana item. 
 
Section 2. Tax Imposed.  As described in section 34a of House Bill 3400 (2015), the 
City of Astoria hereby imposes a tax of three percent on the retail sale price of 
marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city. 
 
Section 3. Collection.  The tax shall be collected at the point of sale of a marijuana 
item by a marijuana retailer at the time at which the retail sale occurs and remitted by 
each marijuana retailer that engages in the retail sale of marijuana items. 
 
Section 4. Referral.  This ordinance shall be referred to the electors of Astoria at the 
next statewide general election on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 
 
Section 5. Effective Date.  This ordinance will be effective 30 days following the date 
of its passage by the City Council. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS _____ DAY OF ___________, 2016. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS _____ DAY OF ____________, 2016. 
 
 
 ___________________________________ 
         Mayor 
  



ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
City Manager 
 
 
ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION YEA  NAY  ABSENT 
Councilor Nemlowill 
  Herzig 
  Price 
  Warr 
Mayor LaMear 
 
 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING REFERAL TO THE ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF 
ASTORIA THE QUESTION OF IMPOSING A THREE PERCENT TAX ON THE SALE 

OF MARIJUANA ITEMS BY A MARIJUANA RETAILER WITHIN THE CITY 
 

WHEREAS, Section 34a of House Bill 3400 (2015) provides that a city council 
may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters that imposes up to a three percent 
tax or fee on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to 
the jurisdiction of the city; 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Astoria City Council adopted Ordinance No. 16-_____, 
which imposes a tax of three percent on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana 
retailer in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ASTORIA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Measure.  A measure election is hereby called for the purpose of 
submitting to the electors of the city of Astoria a measure imposing a three percent tax 
on the sale of marijuana items by a marijuana retailer in the area subject to the 
jurisdiction of the city, a copy of which is attached hereto as “Exhibit 1,” and 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Section 2. Election Conducted by Mail.  The measure election shall be held in the 
City of Astoria on November 8, 2016.  As required by ORS 254.465, the measure 
election shall be conducted by mail by the County Clerk of Clatsop County, according to 
the procedures adopted by the Oregon Secretary of State. 
 
Section 3. Delegation.  The City of Astoria authorizes the City Manager, or the City 
Manager’s designee, to act on behalf of the City and to take such further action as is 
necessary to carry out the intent and purposes set forth herein, in compliance with the 
applicable provisions of law. 
 
Section 4. Preparation of Ballot Title.  The ballot title for the measure set forth as 
Exhibit 1 to this resolution is hereby adopted.  
 
Section 5. Notice of Ballot Title and Right to Appeal.  Upon receiving the ballot title 
for this measure, the Finance Director shall publish in the next available edition of a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City a notice of receipt of the ballot title, 
including notice that an elector may file a petition for review of the ballot title. 
 
Section 6. Explanatory Statement.  The explanatory statement for the measure, 
which is attached hereto as “Exhibit 2,” and incorporated herein by reference, is hereby 
approved. 
 
Section 7. Filing with County Elections Office.  The Finance Director shall deliver the 
Notice of Measure Election to the County Clerk for Clatsop County for inclusion on the 
ballot for the Tuesday November 8, 2016 election. 
 



 

Section 8. Effective Date.  This resolution is effective immediately upon its enactment 
by the City Council. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS _____ DAY OF ___________, 2016. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS _____ DAY OF ____________, 2016. 
 
 
 _____________________________________ 
         Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
City Manager 
 
 
ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION YEA  NAY  ABSENT 
Councilor Nemlowill 
  Herzig 
  Price 
  Warr 
Mayor LaMear 
 

 

  



 

 

Exhibit 1 
 

BALLOT TITLE  
 

Imposes city tax on marijuana retailer’s sale of marijuana items 
 

 
 

QUESTION 
 

Shall City of Astoria impose a three percent tax on the sale in the City of Astoria of 
marijuana items by a marijuana retailer? 

 



 

SUMMARY 
 

Under state law, a city council may adopt an ordinance to be referred to the voters of 
the city imposing up to a three percent tax or fee on the sale of marijuana items in the 
city by a licensed marijuana retailer.  
 
Approval of this measure would impose a three percent tax on the sale of marijuana 
items in the city by a licensed marijuana retailer.  The tax would be collected at the point 
of sale and remitted by the marijuana retailer. 
 
 
  



 

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT 
An impartial, simple and understandable statement explaining the measure and its 

effect for use in the county voters’ pamphlet 
 

500 word limit under ORS 251.345 and OAR 165-022-0040(3) 
 

Approval of this measure would impose a three percent tax on the sale of marijuana 
items by a marijuana retailer within the city.  If approved, the revenues from this tax are 
estimated to be $100,000.  There are no restrictions on how the city may use the 
revenues generated by this tax.   
 
Under Measure 91, adopted by Oregon voters in November 2014 and amended by the 
Legislature in 2015, the Oregon Liquor Control Commission must license the retail sale 
of recreational marijuana.  The 2015 Legislation provides that a city council may adopt 
an ordinance imposing up to a three percent tax on the sale of marijuana items (which 
include marijuana concentrates, extracts, edibles, and other products intended for 
human consumption and use) by retail licensees in the city, but the council must refer 
that ordinance to the voters at a statewide general election.  The City of Astoria city 
council has adopted an ordinance imposing a three percent tax on the sale of marijuana 
items by a retail licensee in the city, and, as a result, has referred this measure to the 
voters. 
 


	CC Agenda 2-1-16
	CC Agenda Memo 2-1-16
	6(a) CC Minutes 1-4-16
	6(b) Library Minutes 12-8-15
	6(c) Trestle and Track Inspection
	6(d) Trolley Trestle Repair Project
	6(e) Salary Resolution
	6(f) Library Passport Program
	7(a) Zilli Appeal
	7(b) Marijuana Tax Ordinance



